Wellesley College **Digital Scholarship and Archive**

Honors Thesis Collection

2017

Estradiol alters the gut microbiota response to highfat diet

Manjot Kaur Nagyal mnagyal@wellesley.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://repository.wellesley.edu/thesiscollection

Recommended Citation

Nagyal, Manjot Kaur, "Estradiol alters the gut microbiota response to high-fat diet" (2017). *Honors Thesis Collection*. 470. http://repository.wellesley.edu/thesiscollection/470

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Wellesley College Digital Scholarship and Archive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Thesis Collection by an authorized administrator of Wellesley College Digital Scholarship and Archive. For more information, please contact ir@wellesley.edu.

Estradiol alters the gut microbiota response to high-fat diet

Manjot Kaur Nagyal

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Prerequisite for Honors in Biochemistry at Wellesley College under the advisement of Vanja Klepac-Ceraj

April 2017

© 2017 Manjot Kaur Nagyal

ABSTRACT

Post-menopausal women have an increased risk of developing metabolic disorders, such as obesity and type-two diabetes. Estradiol, a type of estrogen, which is primarily produced by ovaries and declines in postmenopausal women, protects against diet-induced obesity in women and female mice. However, the mechanisms by which estradiol prevents diet-induced obesity are not completely understood. Host diet has been shown to shift the compositional pattern of the gut microbiota, and both diet and the gut microbiome have been linked to weight gain and obesity. We hypothesized that one mechanism by which estradiol-treated mice resist diet-induced weight gain is through the gut microbiota. For my thesis, I investigated the effects of estradiol on the gut microbiota to a diet change and analyzed the fecal gut microbiota from fourteen adult C57BL6 mice that were ovariectomized and subcutaneously implanted with capsules containing either 17β -estradiol (E2) or oil (vehicle; control; Veh). All mice were fed a standard rodent diet for 10 days and then switched to a high-fat diet (HFD) for 25 days. To identify and compare microbial community composition of samples across treatments, we analyzed the longitudinal 16S rRNA gene data from fecal pellets. I observed that E2 treatment altered the gut microbiota response and structure following the diet change. Specifically, the gut microbiota in E2 mice response to the diet change was attenuated compared to the Veh mice. Moreover, HFD-fed mice were characterized by increased relative abundances of *Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria*, but these HFD-induced shifts were conservative for the E2-treated group. With the diet change and the lack of E2 treatment, fecal endotoxin levels and taxa associated with inflammatory and metabolic diseases increased greatly, such as Helicobacter and Peptostreptococcaceae. Comparatively, the diet change had no effect on endotoxin levels and induced slight increases in abundance of these inflammatory and metabolic disease associated taxa in E2 mice. Microbes characterized as

metabolizers of plant-based diets, such as *Ruminococcaceae and S24-7*, were, however, associated with and in higher abundance in E2 mice than Veh mice during HFD. In summary, HFD disturbs the gut microbiota diversity and composition, but the HFD associated changes are lessened with E2 treatment. The reduced response and alterations in the gut microbiota to dietary change in E2 mice may be a critical component in understanding the complexities by which estradiol protects against obesity.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my wonderful and supportive research mentor Professor Klepac-Ceraj for her patience and unwavering trust in me. She has been a catalyst to my love and pursuit for computational biology and scientific research. I am truly humbled by her willingness to put in long hours personally guiding me through all aspects of my scientific endeavors. Her dedication to the lab, teaching, and rigorous scientific research has shaped me into a more inquisitive learner.

I would also like to thank the members of my committee Professor Elmore and Professor Darling, as well as for their tremendous support and advice throughout my thesis process. I am also grateful to Professor Pattanayak and Professor Mustafaraj for their support in my statistical and computational coursework as well as my research aspirations.

Thank Alexa Rodriguez, Olivia Yanes, and Cece Shen for their incredible support throughout the year. I am extremely lucky to have such kind and intelligent individuals as my friends. I am also earnestly thankful for Alexa's design, development, and execution of the LPS assay. Shout out to the VKC lab (especially Lisa Luka) for their great company in lab and during the summers.

To my wonderful parents and siblings, I thank you for your eternal support and love.

Lastly, I would like to thank the members of our collaborating lab, Marc Tetel, Liz Bless, Kalpana Acharya, Priyanka Ram, and Melody Gao, for their dedication and support for this project. Funding that enabled me to work for three years on this project was provided by: Sophomore Early Research Program, Sherman Fairchild Foundation and Mary M. and Edward B. Allen Fellows for Undergraduate Research in Biological Chemistry.

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	6
INTRODUCTION	7
ESTROGENS, A CLASS OF SEX HORMONES, REGULATE ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS AND METABOLISM	7
GUT MICROBIOTA AND INFLAMMATORY AND METABOLIC DISEASES	10
DIET, A PRIMARY MODULATOR OF THE GUT MICROBIOTA	11
GUT MICROBIOTA AND OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS	14
STUDY AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS	15
MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
OVERVIEW	17
ANIMALS AND STUDY DESIGN	17
DNA EXTRACTION AND SEQUENCING OF FECAL SAMPLES	21
SEQUENCE PROCESSING AND ANALYSIS OF MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES	22
ALPHA AND BETA DIVERSITY	26
COMOPSITIONAL AND TEMPORAL DYNAMICS	30
RESULTS	33
ESTRADIOL PREVENTS HIGH-FAT DIET INDUCED WEIGHT GAIN IN FEMALE MICE	33
MICROBIAL COMMUNITY IN E2 AND VEH MICE RESPOND DIFFERENTLY TO HFD	35
IDENTIFICATION OF KEY TAXA RESPONSIBLE FOR DIFFERENCES BETWEEN VEH AND E2 GROUPS	40
CHANGE IN BACTEROIDETES AND FIRMICUTES ABUNDANCE CORRESPONDS TO WEIGHT GAIN	48
ESTRADIOL PROTECTS AGAINST HIGH-FAT DIET-INDUCED ENDOTOXINS	50
DISCUSSION	52
ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS THAT MODULATE THE GUT MICROBIOTA	52
ESTRADIOL MODULATION OF TAXONOMIC COMPOSITION	54
POTENTIAL BIASES AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	58
CONCLUSIONS	59
REFERENCES	62

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

FIGURE 1 IN PRE-MENOPAUSAL WOMEN, 17 B-ESTRADIOL (E2), THE MAIN CIRCULATING ESTROGEN,	9
FIGURE 2 TIMELINE OF EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN.	19
FIGURE 3 HYPERVARIABLE REGIONS OF THE 16S RRNA GENE AND PRIMER SELECTED REGIONS.	
FIGURE 4 E2-TREATED MICE GAIN LESS WEIGHT THAN VEH-TREATED MICE.	
FIGURE 5 RESPONSIVENESS OF VEH TREATED MICROBIAL COMMUNITY IS ROBUST TO THE DIET CHANGE	
FIGURE 6 DIET-INDUCED CHANGES IN THE FECAL MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION ARE GRADUAL IN E2	
FIGURE 7 MICROBIAL COMPOSITIONAL CHANGES IN RESPONSE TO DIET DIFFER IN VEH AND E2 TREATED	45
FIGURE 8 DYNAMICS OF FECAL BACTERIA IN VEH AND E_2 treated mice during SD and HFD.	47
FIGURE 9 E2 TREATMENT DIFFERENTIALLY ALTERS THE RESPONSE OF PREDOMINANT TAXA TO THE DIET	49
FIGURE 10 E2 TREATMENT PROTECTS AGAINST HFD DRIVEN INCREASES IN FECAL LPS LEVELS.	51
TABLE 1 DIET COMPOSITION.	
TABLE 2 OVERVIEW OF DIFFERENT INDICES OF COMMUNITY DIVERSITY	
TABLE 3 AVERAGE CHAO1 AND SHANNON INDEX VALUES BY DIET AND TREATMENT GROUP.	

INTRODUCTION

Estrogens, a class of sex hormones, regulate energy homeostasis and metabolism

Estrogens, a group of sex hormones, are involved in female reproduction. The circulating levels of estrogens increase at the onset of puberty, are at their highest during the reproductive years, fluctuating with ovulatory cycles, and decline after the menopause (Shapiro, 2001) (Figure 1). In addition to reproduction, estrogens have a profound role in regulating and maintaining energy homeostasis and mediating metabolism (as reviewed in Clegg, 2012; Lopez and Tena-Sempere, 2015; Mauvais-Jarvis et al., 2013). The decline of estrogens is associated with disruptions in energy homeostasis and metabolism that results in the increase of insulin resistance, fat accumulation, and circulatory pro-inflammatory markers (Lovejoy et al., 2008; Pfeilschifter et al., 2002; Sites et al., 2002). Post-menopausal women also have an increased predisposition for metabolic syndrome, type-2 diabetes, and obesity and an increased risk of cancer, and cardiovascular diseases (Al-Safi and Polotsky, 2015; Carr, 2003; Davis et al., 2012; Davis et al., 2015; Jouyandeh et al., 2013; Simpson and Brown, 2013). Estrogen replacement therapy has been shown to improve the symptoms of metabolic syndrome such as insulin sensitivity and reduce the likelihood of type-2 diabetes and obesity (Davis et al., 2012).

Ovariectomized (OVX) mice exhibit similar metabolic and inflammatory outcomes to menopausal women as a response to high-fat diet. OVX mice serve as a good models for studying natural and surgical menopause in women, since the surgical removal of ovaries reduces the circulating estrogen levels (Brinton, 2012). OVX mice feeding on a high-fat diet display an increase in body mass, are glucose intolerant (Riant et al., 2009) and have increased pro-inflammatory markers (Bhardwaj et al., 2015; Blasco-Baque et al., 2012; Pettersson et al., 2012). These factors remained significant even when food intake and high-fat diet were considered as confounding factors (Rogers et al., 2009; Stubbins et al., 2012). Administration of estradiol ameliorates the obesity associated symptoms in OVX mice (Riant et al., 2009), similarly to estrogen replacement therapy in women. Current molecular mechanisms by which estradiol protects against symptoms of metabolic challenges and energy homeostasis disruptions are incomplete and not fully resolved (Bryzgalova et al., 2008; Camporez et al., 2013).



Figure 1. In pre-menopausal women, levels of 17 ß-estradiol (E2), the main circulating estrogen, oscillate according to the menstrual cycles from the start of puberty until menopause when the levels decline. Figure adapted from (Shapiro, 2001).

Gut microbiota, and inflammatory and metabolic diseases

The gut microbiota is a complex assemblage of microbes that inhabit the gut at densities of about 10^{11} to 10^{12} making the gut one of the most densely colonized surfaces of the human body. The gut microbiota contributes to a variety of inflammatory and metabolic diseases such as obesity, metabolic syndrome, liver disease, inflammatory bowel disease and colorectal cancer and is thus intricately involved in host health and disease (Marchesi et al., 2016).

The gut microbiota can modulate energy homeostasis and host metabolism, which are linked to inflammatory and metabolic diseases (Clarke et al., 2014; Rosenbaum et al., 2015). Germ-free mice have been shown to exhibit reduced adiposity and glucose intolerance compared to colonized (conventionally raised) mice, despite a greater energy consumption by germ-free mice (Backhed et al., 2004). The transfer of the gut microbiota of conventional mice (conventionalization) into germ-free mice induces an increase in body mass, insulin intolerance, and modified energy balance as compared to germ-free mice without transplantation (Backhed et al., 2004). Expression of genes associated with energy homeostasis and lipid metabolism differs between colonized mice and germ-free in that these genes are downregulated in colonized mice compared to germ-free mice (Larsson et al., 2012). Germ-free mice conventionalized with the microbiota of genetically obese donors have increased body fat and capacity to extract energy compared to mice conventionalized with the microbiota of lean donors (Turnbaugh et al., 2006). Together these studies illustrate the importance of gut microbiota in energy metabolism.

In addition to regulating the metabolic activities of the host, the gut microbiome plays a profound role in the etiology of obesity, a low-grade inflammatory disease (Ridaura et al., 2013). The conventionalization of germ-free mice with the microbiota of an obese human donor results in an obese phenotype. However, the transfer of the microbiota of a lean donor results in no

change in phenotype for the recipient mice (Ridaura et al., 2013), indicating that the donor phenotype is transferable via the gut microbiota. Conventionalized obese mice observe reduced adiposity and invasion of their gut microbiota by lean phenotype associated microbes when cohoused, which allows for the transfer of microbiota via coprophagy, with conventionalized lean mice (Ridaura et al., 2013). This observation occurs only when mice feed on a low-fat diet (Ridaura et al., 2013). Moreover, the switch in phenotype invasion is not evidenced in the conventionalized lean mice (Ridaura et al., 2013). This supports that there is a tight linkage between the invasion of the gut microbiota and the phenotype, which is highly dependent on diet.

Diet, a primary modulator of the gut microbiota

A diet high in fats, a hallmark of Western culture diet, is linked to increased fat accumulation and low-grade inflammation, which gives rise to diseases such as obesity, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes (Cani et al., 2008a; Fava et al., 2013; Lam et al., 2012). Interestingly, the lack of gut microorganisms, such as in germ-free mice, reduces these high-fat diet associated alterations on the host physiology compared to conventional mice (Backhed et al., 2004), indicating that the propensity of inflammatory and metabolic diseases is enabled through the dietary modulation of the gut microbiota.

A shift to high-fat diet (HFD) restructures the gut microbial diversity and composition and abundance of community members, and these changes in the gut microbiota are associated with increased weight gain (Daniel et al., 2014; Turnbaugh et al., 2008). Specifically, community diversity is similar amongst individuals consuming the same diet (Daniel et al., 2014; Turnbaugh et al., 2008). The HFD also induces phylum level taxonomic changes with high abundance of *Firmicutes* and low abundance of *Bacteroidetes* on the HFD (Daniel et al., 2014; Turnbaugh et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2012). This taxonomic trend is also observed in obese mice (Ley et al.,

2005; Murphy et al., 2010b), and in mice that are genetically resistant to diet-induced obesity fed a HFD (Hildebrandt et al., 2009). While most studies have reported an increase ratio of *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroidetes* in obese individuals, several studies have contradicted these findings. For example, Duncan and co-workers (2008) did not find any difference in the ratio of *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroidetes* in the fecal microbiome of obese and lean individuals. HFDinduced effects on community diversity, interestingly, are maintained even with life-style changes such as reduced energy consumption or increased energy expenditure in HFD-fed mice (Liou et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). Furthermore, the characteristic effect of HFD on the gut microbiota diversity are primarily dependent on HFD and not upon differences in individual genetics (Carmody et al., 2015). Diet is one of the primary environmental factors in shaping the gut microbial ecology.

Dietary changes can alter the microbial community dynamics. The gut microbiota of mice and humans is responsive to a diet change within 1 to 2 days (David et al., 2014; Turnbaugh et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2012). Furthermore, despite differences in other environmental factors, such as host genetics, the response of the microbial community to a Western diet is consistent (Carmody et al., 2015). This dietary impact on the community diversity occurs before other host phenotypic changes become prevalent, such as weight gain (Carmody et al., 2015; Turnbaugh et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2012). Essentially, the rapid microbial ecological adaptation to the change in nutrients is further correlational evidence of the gut microbiota's role in contributing to associated inflammatory and metabolic diseases and phenotypes. Interestingly, constant dietary shifts induce mirrored shifts in the gut microbial diversity in mice and humans (Carmody et al., 2015; David et al., 2014). This illustrates the

potential of dietary modulation of inflammatory and metabolic diseases through the gut microbiota.

The abundances of gut microbial community members are associated with host health and disease; low abundances of *Bacteroides* spp. is linked to a pro-inflammatory status (Boulange et al., 2016). High abundance of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* is found in healthy individuals and linked to anti-inflammatory status (Boulange et al., 2016; Miquel et al., 2013). Currently, this bacterium is proposed as a novel probiotic for inflammatory diseases (Miquel et al., 2013). Diet can alter taxonomic abundances of individual members over time. For example, members of the Ruminococcaceae, have a defined ecological niche as metabolizers of plantbased material (Flint et al., 2012; Ze et al., 2012). These members are tightly linked to diet high in resistant starch and changes in dietary nutrients results in swift shifts in the abundance of these members (Walker et al., 2011). Similarly, increases in the relative abundance of *Firmicutes* decreases and decreases in Bacteroidetes are characterized as HFD-induced (Carmody et al., 2015; Hildebrandt et al., 2009; Ley et al., 2005; Murphy et al., 2010b). Members of Firmicutes are the most diverse and highly abundant phylum in the gut (Rajilic-Stojanovic and de Vos, 2014). The *Bacteroidetes* phylum is characterized as the most stable phylum in the microbiome of healthy adults. An altered abundance of this phylum has been associated to obesity, irritable bowel disease and type 1 and 2 diabetes (Larsen et al., 2010; Ley, 2010; Rajilic-Stojanovic et al., 2011; Rajilic-Stojanovic et al., 2012). Species of this phylum have a diverse metabolic profile; for example, *Bacteroidetes* ferment complex plant polysaccharides, metabolize urea as nitrogen source, and deconjugate host metabolites such as bile acids (Rajilic-Stojanovic and de Vos, 2014).

High-fat diet also selectively promotes the growth of microbes, specifically proinflammatory gram-negative microorganisms (Cani et al., 2008a). These microbes can alter immune homeostasis and have been associated with inflammation, characteristic of obesity and type 2 diabetes (Cani et al., 2008b; Devkota et al., 2012). Mechanistically, chronic, low-grade inflammation is triggered by lipopolysaccharides, a cell-wall component of gram-negative bacteria which interact with the immune system (Saad et al., 2016). Clearly, diet-induced dynamics of microbial taxa are extremely relevant in health and disease.

Gut microbiota and other environmental factors

Though the gut microbiota is highly influenced by diet change, other environmental factors can also impact the diversity and structure of gut microbiota. For example, while diet is a strong modulator of the gut microbiota, the response differs in mice with different genetic background (Carmody et al., 2015). This work and others suggests that the compositional abundance and dynamics are impacted by additional host factors to diet, such as genetics, host lifestyle, and the gut microbiota itself (Carmody et al., 2015; Liou et al., 2013; Ridaura et al., 2013). In total, diet and other secondary environmental factors are drivers of gut microbial ecology. The effect of these variables has major impacts on the gut microbiota, which are associated to a variety of inflammatory and metabolic diseases (Boulange et al., 2016).

While estrogens and gut microbiota play significant roles in inflammatory and metabolic diseases independent of each other, there is mounting evidence of crosstalk between microbiota and hormones. In pregnant women during hormone level fluctuations, the gut microbiome undergoes profound changes in microbial community composition and function (Koren et al., 2012). In female rats bred to have low and high running capacity, ovariectomy can alter the

composition of gut microbiota compared to sham controls (Cox-York et al., 2015). This work suggests that estrogens are an environmental factor that can modulate the gut microbiota. However, the microbial community and individual microorganisms can also impact the levels of hormones through metabolism (Adlercreutz et al., 1984; Clarke et al., 2014; Flores et al., 2012; Plottel and Blaser, 2011; Rose et al., 2014). Furthermore, in postmenopausal women, gut microbiota diversity is positively associated with the ratio of estrogen metabolites in urine, suggesting that these metabolites are derived by microbiota (Fuhrman et al., 2014; Goedert et al., 2015). Taken together, these studies provide strong evidence that the estrogens affect microorganisms (Beury-Cirou et al., 2013; Kornman and Loesche, 1982) and that microorganisms affect the concentration and levels of hormones (Adlercreutz et al., 1984; Clarke et al., 2014; Flores et al., 2012; Plottel and Blaser, 2011; Rose et al., 2014).

Several studies have shown that estradiol prevents HFD-induced obesity in female mice (Blasco-Baque et al., 2012; Bless et al., 2014; Riant et al., 2009). Although the changes of the gut microbiota associated with diet and hormones have been investigated in the past (Cox-York et al., 2015; Moreno-Indias et al., 2016; Org et al., 2016), less attention has been given to the dynamics of microbiota undergoing diet change under different hormone conditions. Characterizing the gut microbial community dynamics to diet has major implications on women's health in relation to inflammatory and metabolic diseases.

Study aims and hypothesis

For my thesis, I focused on understanding the ecological effects of estradiol on the gut microbiota dynamics. It has been shown that estradiol protects against high-fat diet induced weight gain and that the gut microbiota is involved in the modulation of the high-fat diet induced phenotype of weight gain and endotoxin production. We hypothesize that one mechanism

through which estradiol protects against diet-induced obesity is through the modulation of the gut microbiota. To test this hypothesis, we asked a series of questions: (1) does the treatment of estradiol influence the diet-driven changes in the gut microbiota diversity and composition, (2) are there specific taxa that are associated to the estradiol treatment, and (3) does the treatment of estradiol modulate gram-negative microbial dynamics and fecal endotoxin levels during HFD?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Overview

We used culture-independent methods to profile the fecal microbial community of female mice. Fecal samples were collected from ovariectomized female mice estradiol-treated or vehicle-treated mice over a 35-day period study, with ten days of standard rodent-chow feeding and 25 days of high-fat diet feeding. Weight and food intake measurements were made about every four days through the study. Fecal samples collected were extracted for microbial genomic DNA and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was used to amplify and sequence a portion of the 16S ribosomal RNA gene. The 16S rRNA gene sequences were processed to identify taxa for each sample and associated relative abundances per sample. These data were further analyzed using ecological metrics and statistical analyses and analysis to reveal longitudinal community diversity and compositional differences by treatment.

Animals and study design

All animal procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Fourteen eight-week old C57BL/6 female mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). The mice were maintained on a 12:12 light:dark cycle, co-housed and fed standard rodent chow for one week adjustment period to the new environment. Mice were bilaterally ovariectomized and implanted subcutaneously with a silastic capsule (Ingberg et al., 2012) containing either 50 μ g 17 β -estradiol (E2, n=7) dissolved in 25 μ l 5% ethanol/sesame oil (Kudwa et al., 2009; Rissman et al., 2002) or vehicle (5% Prior to the surgery, mice were fed standard rodent chow (SD) (Purina, cat. #5001; Table 1). After the surgery, mice continued to receive SD for additional ten days. On the eleventh day post ovariectomy, mice were switched to a high fat diet (HFD) (containing 58% Kcal from fat in the form of lard) (Harlan Teklad, cat. #03584; Table 1) for 25 days. Food intake and animal weights were measured every four days during HFD; initial base-line weigh measurement was made on the day of surgery. Fecal samples were collected daily during the SD or every four days during HFD near the food source area and stored immediately at -80 °C until downstream analyses. Mice were sacrificed at the end of the study, 25 days after the start of HFD. See Figure 2 for experimental timeline schematic.

Measurement of LPS levels in fecal samples

Fecal endotoxin levels were quantized for randomly selected fecal samples from SD and HFD for both groups. The levels were determined using the Pyrosate limulus amoebocyte lysate (LAL) assay (Associates of Cape Cod, Falmouth, MA) using ET-free glass, plasticware and reagents for all steps. LAL uses an enzyme derived from the horseshoe crab blood cells, which in the presence of endotoxin, catalyzes a reaction to produce a gel clot. Briefly, 250 mg of fecal sample was resuspended in 750 μ l of LAL reagent water and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 12 min. Samples were then diluted in tubes containing LAL reagents, incubated at 37°C and then tubes were removed and inverted once. When a gel was formed, the test was scored as positive.



Figure 2. Timeline of experimental design.

Eight-week old female C57BL6 mice were ovariectomized and implanted with capsules containing either 50mg of 17ß-estradiol or vehicle on day 0. Animals were individually housed and given the SD (day 0 to day 10) and then HFD (day 11 to 35). Fecal samples were collected as the indicated time points above the timeline for microbial 16S rRNA analysis. Food intake and weight measurements were taken on days listed below the timeline. * indicates that no measurement for food intake was made for that day.

Table	1.	Diet	Com	position.

% Kcal from	SD	HFD			
Protein	29.8	15			
Fat	13.4	26.6			
Carbohydrate	56.7	58.4			

DNA extraction and sequencing of fecal samples

DNA from each sample (2-3 fecal pellets, ~200 mg) was extracted using the PowerSoil® DNA Isolation Kit (MoBio, Valencia, CA) with minor adjustments to the manufacturer's protocol to increase DNA yield and concentration. The adjustments included a 5 min incubation time after adding 60 μ l of C6 (elution buffer) to the spin column. DNA extracts were stored at - 20 °C until further processing.

The 16S rRNA gene is of interest for determining gut microbial diversity and composition. This gene is universal in bacteria which gives a view on bacterial membership (Clarridge, 2004). Gene has conserved and variable regions which allows for the classification of bacterial sequences to a highly differential taxonomic level (such as the genus level) (Clarridge, 2004) where the highly variable regions provide greater phylogentic insight than conserved regions (Soergel et al., 2012). Hence, it is a viable marker gene because it can quantify the bacterial composition as relative abundances and the phylogentic diversity in a given environment (Pace, 1997; Ward et al., 1990). 16S rRNA gene has a ~1500 base pairs and the gene encodes for catalytic rRNA portion of the small ribosomal subunit. The length of the sequencing read has little effect on the accuracy of taxnomic classification and relative abundance measures (Huse et al., 2008), but the selection of primers for short sequence reads greatly limits the taxnomic classification of the reads at a highly diffrential taxonomic level (Huse et al., 2008; Soergel et al., 2012). Hence, the primers were carefully selected based on previous procedures that were complementary to highly conserved regions of the gene (Caporaso et al., 2011).

The V3-V4 region (Figure 3) of the 16S rRNA gene of the DNA extracts from each sample was amplified using the following universal 16S rRNA gene primers: 341F (5'-

CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') and reverse 806R (5'-GGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT-3') with sequence adapters on both primers and sample-specific Golay barcodes on the reverse primer following the procedure of Caporaso et al. (2011). Briefly, the PCR amplicons were quantified by PicoGreen (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) using a plate reader. After quantification, amplicons were pooled in equal concentrations, cleaned up using UltraClean PCR Clean-Up Kit (MoBio, Carlsbad, CA), and quantified using the Qubit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). This pool was then sequenced using paired-end v2 chemistry on an Illumina MiSeq (Illumina, San Diego, CA) at Forsyth Institute, Cambridge, MA.

The Illumina MiSeq platform is high-throughput method of sequencing 16S rRNA gene amplicons. An adapter sequence is added to each DNA fragment that is unique for each sample and as a results samples are pooled together. The DNA fragments are sequenced by *in situ* PCR using fluorescently labeled nucleotides and emission imaging. The adaptor sequence, sequenced with the 16S rRNA gene segment is used to distribute the amplicons according to their sample of origin. As a result, numerous samples can be sequenced together, with high number of amplicons in each sample.

Sequence processing and analysis of microbial communities

A total of 1,610,282 sequences reads were processed, with 805,141 paired-end read pairs. Paired-end reads were joined using Flash software (Magoc and Salzberg, 2011). Only read pairs that had perfectly matching overlapping region were retained. Paired reads were then demultiplexed meaning the total sequences were distributed based on the reads adaptor sequence according to their sample origin. The sequences were then filtered based on the phred quality score. The phred quality score (q-score) is the probability of that a nucleotide base of the sequence is incorrect. A high q-score is indicative of high-quality sequences. Reads that had a qscore <20 were removed from further downstream analysis as recommended by previous work and guidelines (Bokulich et al., 2013). Lastly, chimeric sequences were identified using UCHIME's usearch61 *de novo* based chimera detection algorithm (Edgar et al., 2011), and removed from the quality-filtered sequences. Chimeric sequences are artificial sequences produced during PCR. Demultiplexing and quality filtering were done using Quantitative Insights into Microbial Ecology (MacQIIME v1.9.0 (Caporaso et al., 2010b; Caporaso et al., 2012) and MacQIIME was used for additional processing of the data unless otherwise indicated.

Although the 16S rRNA gene is highly conserved, there are variable regions that allow for the distinction between different taxa (Figure 3). Universal primers, which are primers targeting conserved regions across as many different bacterial taxa, are used to amplify a variable region which is then used for taxon identification. We used V3-V4 region. Sequences are often clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTUs) based on similarity. For example, groups of sequences clustered based upon 97% sequence similarity threshold are taxonomically approximate to species (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005). In general, taxonomic thresholds are rough estimates of taxonomic levels as they can differ for based on the hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA used and for different taxa (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005; Yang et al., 2016). Chimera-free and filtered sequences were clustered at 97% sequence similarity level using openreference OTU picking approach based on the most abundant sequence from each cluster was selected as a representative sequence. In this open-reference approach, sequences are aligned and clustered at 97% threshold based on sequences in a reference database. Sequences that have less than 97% sequence similarity are clustered de novo in reference to one another rather than a database.



Figure 3. Hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene and primer selected regions. Secondary structure and illustration of 16S rRNA of *Escherichia coli* and associated hypervariable regions. 341F and 806R primers used for our study are marked. Figure adapted from (Yarza et al., 2014).

All representative sequences were aligned using PyNAST (Caporaso et al., 2010a). The RDP classifier (Wang et al., 2007) was used to assign the Greengenes2013 database taxonomy to the representative sequences. Taxonomic classification of the representative sequence was inherited by the OTU cluster. A phylogenic tree for subsequent phylogenetic analyses was built using FastTree (Price et al., 2010). OTUs with \leq 2 sequences, sequences belonging to chloroplasts and mitochondria were removed as they would not be relevant for downstream analyses.

An important distinction should be made between taxa and OTUs. Although the clustering of sequences is maintained at a 97% sequence threshold, it is important to note that classification of the OTUs may not be complete. In that OTUs may be taxonomically assigned up to class level and may lack taxonomic designation at family and genus level. There are two likely reasons for this cutoff in taxonomic classification, the first is that there is no phylogenetic information to that level within the database (Goodrich et al., 2014). The second reason is that there is that there is no consensuses as to which phylogenetic class the OTU should be assigned to for a given taxonomic level (Goodrich et al., 2014). Thus, a large proportion of OTUs will not be identified at the species taxonomic level. Taxa with a genus-level designation, for example, are thus a mix of OTUs that were not identified at the species level.

Often the number of sequences per sample varies and can lead to artificial estimates of microbiota diversity. To account for this variability, rarefaction approach is used. An equal number of sequence are randomly selected from each sample at a given sequencing depth. This random selection ensures that the population of sequences are represented in the sampling population of sequences after rarefaction. This is a conservation procedure, however, which emphasizes highly abundant sequences over rarer ones. Samples were rarefied to 9,000

sequences and samples with less than 9,000 sequences were excluded from analysis. In the end, a total of 166 samples was kept. After processing of the data, we ended up with sequences with 405 base pairs and an average of 9,472 (SD \pm 148) sequences in each sample.

Alpha and beta diversity

The microbiome diversity can be described using alpha and beta diversity. Alpha diversity can provide insight as whether HFD (for example) promotes diversity within a community equally with and without E2-treatment. Essentially, alpha diversity provides insight as to how the community as a whole is impacted by altered environmental factors. There are many different metrics for describing a community's alpha diversity, which can be qualitative or quantitative and species-based or divergence-based. The qualitative measure considers the presence and absence of taxa within samples, while the quantitative measure accounts for abundances of the taxa. Traditional species-based diversity measures from ecology have been adapted for surveying the taxa diversity in microbial ecology. Essentially, a species-based diversity measure treats all taxa equally and does not account for phylogenetic relationships between taxa, whereas a divergence-based measure takes into account the evolutionary relationships.

In this study, we determined the Chao1 and Shannon diversity indices (Table 2). The Chao1 index is a qualitative, non-parametric, species-based measure of alpha diversity that provides the lower bound of species richness. Essentially, this metric defines the community richness and is reflected by the number of taxa present in a community. The Shannon index takes into account both richness and eveness (characterized by how representative a taxa is within a community though abundance values). This is quantitative, species based measure that accounts for the presence and abundance of the taxa. Low values of richness and/or evenness mean less

diversity. The Chao1 indices for each sample were generated using QIIME and Shannon indices were determined for each sample using the vegan (diversity) package in R. The Kruskal-Wallis test (kruskal.test) in R was used to determine differences in diversity by treatment and diet.

Beta diversity is defined as a measure of dissimilaity between communities. This measure of diversity is powerful in that we can assess how a microbial community changes over time and with different treatments. We used Unique Fraction metric (UniFrac) which relies on the premise that microbial communities that differ from one another have taxa with more unique evolutional lineages (Lozupone and Knight, 2005a). This metric incorporates phylogenetic information from the phylogenetic trees of the 16S rRNA gene of each sample in determining the similarity between communities (Lozupone and Knight, 2005a). The UniFrac metric provide qualitative (use presence absence information) and quantitative (presence/absence and abundance information) measures of beta diversity (Lozupone and Knight, 2005a; Lozupone et al., 2007). UniFrac values for both weighted and unweighted metric were calculated as a pair-wise comparison of similarity between samples. A distance matrix is produced with all the pairwise comparisons. We determined the UniFrac diversity values for each sample using QIIME. The weighted UniFrac values from the distance matrix were visualized as a boxplot to determine similarity between and within samples by treatment and diet and assessed for significance using Bonferroni-corrected Student's *t*-test in R and QIIME.

Metric Description Reference Chao1 Qualitative measure of alpha diversity; richness (Chao, 1984) Quantitative measure of alpha diversity; richness and Shannon (Shannon and Weaver, 1949) evenness UniFrac, Incorporates the presence/absence and abundance data in (Lozupone et al., weighted addition to phylogenetic information; beta diversity metric 2007)

Table 2. Overview of different indices of community diversity.

Visualizing the pairwise comparisons is challenging due to the high dimensionaly of the data. Hence, ordination methods, such as principal coordinates analysis that we implemented, reduce the the dimensionality so that the data can be visualized in a two dimensional space. In this two dimensional projection, distances between points, which correspond to each sample, represent how similar the points are to one another based on the weighted UniFrac diversity metric. Essentially, sample points closer together on the two dimensional plane are have similar community structures (i.e. similar composition in terms of presence/absence and abundance data) that sample points that are far apart. By applying this dimension reduction technique, we can visualize the high dimsional UniFrac diversity output for our dataset, while retaining the pairwise comparison information. We can also gain meaningful ecological interpretations about the samples by plotting the dimension that explains the greatest amount of variation between sample communities (principal component axis one) over time.

Dimensionality reduction of the UniFrac weighted distance matrix was done in QIIME and visualized using the ggplot2 package in R. Statistical significance for of beta diversity of samples by diet and treatment was determined using ANalysis Of SIMilaity (ANOSIM). This is an ANOVA-like hypothesis test used often in multivariate statistics to evaluate significance of samples from a dissimiliaty matrix. The first principal component axis was plotted over time in R using ggplot2 package. Kruskal-Wallis test (kruskal.test) in R was used to determine significance of community diversity over time with the assumption that samples are independent from one another.

Comopsitional and temporal dynamics

Compositional temporal dynamics provide insight as to how environmental factors influence the community and its members over time. Longitudinal analyses allow for a nuanced understanding of how environmental factors drive microbial ecology.

We plotted the relative abundance of all taxa at the phylum taxanomic level and the genus taxanomic level from the abundance tables generated after sequence procressing in QIIME over time as area graphs. The abudances were averaged by treatment for each timepoint. Kruskal-Wallis test (kruskal.test) in R was used to determine significance of abundance over time with the assumption that samples are independent from one another for each taxon.

In the net comparison analysis, we sought to determine the magnitude of difference in abundance for each taxon between E2 and Veh mice for each time point. Essentially this analysis defines if the bacterial taxa is more abundant under the E2- or Veh-treatment and by what percent the taxa are higher or lower in abundance. The net difference in abundances for each taxon were calculated using the following formula:

$$Net = avg(E2) - avg(Veh)$$

The abundances for each taxon were averaged by day for E2 and Veh mice. The difference in the averages was determined for each day as the net difference. Similarly, the net difference in abundances was determined for SD and HFD period. Based on this analysis, positive values indicate enrichment of the taxa in E2 treatment over Veh treatment. Negative values indicate that taxa abundance is higher in Veh mice than E2 mice. We determined significance of the net differences values between SD and HFD using the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test.

We used the linear discriminant analysis of effect size (LEFSe) pipeline on the galaxy platform (<u>http://huttenhower.sph.harvard.edu/galaxy/</u>) to identify bacterial taxa that uniquely

associated to E2- and Veh-treatment over time and for SD and HFD time periods (Segata et al., 2011). Both the net comparison analysis and LEFSe analysis provide an estimate of the effect size between the two treatment groups over time and by diet, however the LEFSe analysis provides greater biological interpretation by characterizing taxa as biomarkers that can discriminate between treatments (Segata et al., 2011). There are two analysis in the pipeline, the Kruskal-Wallis test and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA). The significance of the associations between taxa abundance and treatment are first determined by Kruskal-Wallis test. Then a ranking of the taxa is generated using LDA. LDA is similar to the principal component analysis in that it is reduces the dimensionality of the abundance data to a linear axis. This axis for LDA, unlike the principal coordinate analysis, is orientated to maximize the difference between groups of interest (i.e. E2 and Veh treatments). In total, taxa with a high LDA value for a taxon will indicates that the taxon best discriminates between the groups. The sign of the LDA score for comparing two groups is indicative of the group.

The methods described thus far for analyzing temporal and compositional dynamics do not do a good job of describing the longitudinal changes in less abundant taxa. Characterizing the temporal dynamics of rare taxa is highly important as many rare taxa contribute to the temporal variability in microbial diversity disproportionately to abundant taxa (Shade et al., 2014). Horizon plots visualize the changes in relative abundance of taxa over a time course relative to the its median abundance for all days. Hence these plots allow for the comparative visualization of the temporal dynamics of rare and abundant taxa. The data used to generate the plots were abundance values for each taxon averaged by day for E2 and Veh treatments times series. Graphs were generated by first centering each OTU (with the relative abundances >1%) time series around its median, followed by dividing the curve into colored bands whose width is the median

absolute deviation. Then, the colored bands were overlaid with negative values mirroring upwards. Regions with warmer colors and cooler colors indicate a range where an OTU exceeds or falls below its median abundance, respectively.

Not all temporal dynamics are ecologically driven changes due to environmental factors. Abundance data, due to the technical aspects of sequencing rare taxa, for example, contains random noise. In other words, changes in abundance for some taxa may be transient and not due to the environmental factors. Hence, we used Augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) test to characterize dynamics of individual OTUs (Said and Dickey, 1984), to identify if individual taxa are at equilibrium or fluctuating non-randomly. The test was run by using the tseries (adf.test) package in R. The ADF test was set with a null hypothesis that the time series for a given taxon follows a random trend. Rejection of the null hypothesis means that the taxon is not at equilibrium.

RESULTS

Estradiol prevents high-fat diet induced weight gain in female mice

Eight-week-old C57BL/6J female mice were ovariectomized to remove their endogenous source of estrogens and treated with either E2 (estradiol) or Veh (control). E2-treated and Vehtreated females adapted to a defined standard diet (SD) were switched to a high-fat diet (HFD) on day 11 after ovariectomy (Table 1). During the HFD feeding period, Veh mice significantly gained body weight (Figure 1; p<0.05; ANOVA) and after 24 days had gained 35% more weight than on the first day of HFD. In contrast, E2 mice, did not show significant body weight gain throughout the experiment and maintained their lean phenotype until the end of the experiment on day 35 (Figure 1). As observed in previous studies (Blaustein et al., 1976; Blaustein and Wade, 1976; Eckel, 2011), food intake was higher in Veh-treated mice than E2-treated mice, and in our study, food intake was 22% higher in Veh-treated mice (Supplementary Figure 1). This increase of HFD-intake alone cannot explain the extent of the observed weight gain in Veh-treated mice.



Figure 4. E2-treated mice gain less weight than Veh-treated mice. Mice (n=7 per treatment group) were measured for weight and sampled for fecal samples during SD (days 0-10 post-ovariectomy) and during HFD (days 11-35). Solid blue line indicates start of HFD. Red and black symbols indicate E_2 and Veh samples, respectively. Significant difference in weight between Veh- and E2-treated mice as measured by ANOVA (p<0.05) is indicated by *.

Microbial community in E2 and Veh mice respond differently to HFD

To assess the impact of E2 and diet on the female mouse fecal microbiota, we sequenced the V3-V4 amplicons of 16S rRNA gene from E2- and Veh-treated mice. Sequences were clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTUs) at 97% sequence similarity using Greengenes database.

The richness (the number of different taxa defined by OTUs in a sample) and evenness (the relative abundances of taxa in a sample) are often calculated to compare and characterize the sampled community to other communities. Based on Kruskal-Wallis test (p<0.05), fecal microbiota from HFD-fed mice had significantly different Chao1 and Shannon index values from SD-fed mice. For the HFD-fed mice, E2 treatment reduced both richness and evenness of the microbial community as evidenced from lower Chao1 index and Shannon diversity index values compared to Veh treatment (Table 3).
	Diet	Treatment	Ν	Average	Standard Error of Mean
- Chao1 index	HFD	E2 Veh	45 38	1946 2099	77 86
	SD	E2 Veh	34 35	2231 2249	79 62
Shannon index	HFD	E2 Veh	38 32	2 2	0 0
	SD	E2 Veh	34 35	1 1	0 0

 Table 3. Average Chao1 and Shannon index values by diet and treatment group.

Beta-diversity analysis based on weighted Unifrac distance metric was used to compare bacterial communities (Lozupone and Knight, 2005b; Lozupone et al., 2011). Weighted Unifrac metric is obtained by incorporating information on relative abundances and phylogenetic diversity observed in samples. To identify major sources of variation in our dataset, we used a correspondence analysis, a technique that allows for the identification of potential relationships between variables when there are no *a priori* expectations of the nature of the relationships. The weighted-Unifrac principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) revealed that most fecal microbiota from both Veh and E2 groups clustered together during SD (open symbols in Figure 5A). However, the switch to HFD altered the composition of the fecal microbiota in both groups, as shown by the clear separation of groups from the SD cluster (closed symbols in Figures 5A, p < 0.001, ANOSIM). Pair-wise comparison of bacterial community composition within and between diet and treatment categories revealed that variation in microbial diversity was the smallest for Veh and E2 groups fed a SD, and the largest between Veh mice fed SD and HFD (p<0.05; Bonferroni-corrected Student's t-test; Figure 5B). To characterize temporal patterns of the bacterial community in the Veh and E2 mice, we plotted the first principal coordinate 1 (PC1) weighted-Unifrac values against time (Figure 5C). The PC1 captured 42% of variation in the community. Within three days of switching to the HFD, the fecal microbiota of both Veh and E2 mice differed from their respective SD microbiota and remained different for all subsequent days (p<0.05; Kruskal-Wallis test; Figure 5C). The greatest difference in weighted Unifrac PC-1 values between bacterial communities from E2 and Veh mice was observed on day 15 (Figure 5C), and then decreased between treatment groups after day 15 (Figure 5C). Importantly, the bacterial community response to the new diet was smaller and slower in E2 mice, implying that estradiol attenuates the HFD-induced shift in the gut community structure.

To determine if there is any relationship between the community structure and body weight, we plotted the PC1 values against mouse weight (Figure 5D). Weight-gain was linked to HFD and bacterial community composition (Figure 5D). The slope determined by PC1 and weight gain was different for Veh and E2 groups, indicating a differential correlation between weight gain and microbial communities in the two treatment groups ($R^2 = 0.7$ for E2 group, $R^2 =$ 0.8 for Veh group; p<0.01; Figure 5D).



Figure 5. Responsiveness of Veh treated microbial community is robust to the diet change. (A) Weighted Unifrac-based PCoA of the fecal microbiota of Veh- (black) and E2- (red) treated mice during SD (open) and HFD (closed). (B) Comparison of weighted Unifrac distances of bacterial communities of Veh and E2 mice within and between diet groups. (C) Comparison of communities over time based on their position along PC1 of the weighted Unifrac-based PCoA. Solid blue line indicates start of HFD. Significant difference in microbial communities of Veh-and E2-treated mice as measured by Kruskal Wallis (p<0.05) is indicated by * (D) Comparison of communities over time based on their position along PC1 of the weighted Unifrac-based PCoA. Solid blue line indicates start of HFD. Significant difference in microbial communities of Veh-and E2-treated mice as measured by Kruskal Wallis (p<0.05) is indicated by * (D) Comparison of communities over time based on their position along PC1 of the weighted Unifrac-based PCoA and weight in E₂ and Veh mice. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

Identification of key taxa responsible for differences between Veh and E2 groups

Analysis of major taxonomic groups supported our finding that the switch to HFD differentially impacted the fecal microbiota of Veh and E2 groups. From 166 samples collected from 14 mice, we identified 136 bacterial taxa belonging to 12 phyla. The three most prevalent phyla in both treatment groups were *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes,* and *Proteobacteria* (Figure 6A). Mean relative abundance level of *Bacteroidetes* was higher during SD (58.6% and 59.4% for Veh and E2 groups, respectively) than HFD (7.5% and 29.4% for Veh and E2 groups, respectively) than HFD (7.5% and 29.4% for Veh and E2 groups, respectively) than HFD (7.5% and 29.4% for Veh and E2 groups, respectively, p<0.05; Kruskal Wallis test, Figure 6A). In contrast, the relative abundance of *Firmicutes* during SD was lower (38.6% for Veh and 37.9% for E2 groups), when compared to HFD (86.7% for Veh and 65.8% for E2 groups, p<0.05; Kruskal Wallis test; Figure 6A). The mean relative abundance for the phylum *Proteobacteria* during SD was also lower (0.06% for Veh and 0.08% for E2) and increased under the HFD conditions to 1.01% for Veh and 0.56% for E2 groups. The change in the relative abundances due to the shift in diet was the highest for *Proteobacteria* for both treatment groups and increased by 18 times for Veh mice and by 7 times for E2 mice on the HFD (Figure 6A).

Across all communities sampled, 27 taxa were found at greater than 1% relative abundances in at least one sample (Figure 6B and Supplementary Table 1). *S24-7* family belonging to the *Bacteroidales* was the most abundant in the SD-fed Veh (58.4%) and E2 (59.4%) mice (Figure 6B). The switch from SD to HFD, resulted in the decrease in the relative abundance of the OTU in the *S24-7* family in both treatment groups (Figure 6B). The mean relative abundance of *S24-7* across all HFD samples was 7.4% and 29.4% in Veh and E2 mice, respectively (Figure 6B). The only other OTU that decreased due to the diet switch was the one belonging to the *Clostridiales* family, *Lachnospiraceae*, but its decrease was the same across both groups (Figure 6B). A total of 20 bacterial genera that significantly increased after the HFD switch belonged to the *Firmicutes* phylum, 9 of which had greater than 5% sequences in at least one sample (Figure 6B, Supplementary Table 1). These included some of the most abundant members of the order *Erysipelotrichales* such as *Allobaculum* spp.; order *Clostridiales* such as *Oscillospira, Dorea* spp. and unassigned members of *Lachnospiraceae* and *Ruminococcaceae* families; and order *Lactobacillales* such as *Lactobacillus* and *Streptococcus* spp. (Figure 6B; Supplementary Table 1).



Figure 6. Diet-induced changes in the fecal microbiota composition are gradual in E2 treated mice relative to Veh treated mice. (A) Mean relative abundances of major phyla (>1% in at least one sample) in E_2 and Veh treatment groups. (B) Mean relative abundances of taxa (>1% in at least one sample) reported at the lowest identifiable level (o = order, f = family, g= genus) with legend showing taxa with relative abundance >5%. Solid blue line indicates start of HFD.

The observed differences in community structure between treatment groups during both SD and HFD (Figures 5 and 6), were driven by differences in the relative abundance of multiple bacterial taxa (Figure 4A). We identified these bacterial taxa by calculating the difference in the mean relative abundance for the taxa between E2- and Veh-treatment for each time point. Relative abundances of taxa in E2 and Veh groups during SD were similar and as a result we did not observe differences more than 5% between the two groups during SD (Figure 7A). The only taxa that significantly differed between the two groups during SD were *Peptostreptococcaceae*, two Clostridiaceae from the order Clostridiales and genus Lactobacillus (Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value < 0.05; Wilcoxon Rank Sum test). The relative abundances of these taxa were higher in Veh mice (Figure 7A). In contrast, 18 out of 27 taxa were significantly enriched in either E2 or Veh mice fed the HFD (Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value < 0.05; Wilcoxon Rank Sum test; Figure 7A). OTUs belonging to S24-7, one group of *Clostridiales*, and *RF39* were more abundant in the E2 versus Veh mice after the diet switch (Figure 7A). OTUs belonging to the phylum Firmicutes such as Allobaculum, Lactococcus, Roseburia, Lactobacillus, Coprococcus, Peptostreptococcus, Erysipelotrichaceae, and Dorea were more prevalent in Veh mice fed HFD (Figure 7A). Also, more prevalent in Veh mice were Helicobacteraceae from the phylum Proteobacteria and Prevotella spp. from the phylum Bacteroidetes (Figure 7A). The same four taxa that were significantly higher in Veh than E2 mice during SD, were also higher during HFD (Figure 7A). This suggests that E2, rather than the diet, influences the dynamics of these taxa in the gut.

To identify bacterial taxa that were distinctly associated in E2 or Veh mice, we determined the associations between diet/treatment and bacterial taxa abundance by Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe) algorithm (Segata et al., 2011; Figure 7B). The same differentially abundant taxa detected by the Wilcoxon Rank Sum analysis (Figure 7A) were also detected with LEfSe (Figure 7B).



Figure 7. Microbial compositional changes in response to diet differ in Veh and E2 mice. (A) Difference between E2 and Veh mean relative abundance of taxa >1% grouped by time point, SD (days 7-11), and HFD (days 14-25). The graded color scale indicates the relative percent difference between E2 and Veh taxa highlighting taxa more abundant in E2 mice (red tiles) versus in Veh mice (black tiles). (B) Differentially associated taxa over time, SD (days 7-11), and HFD (days 14-25) as determined using the LEfSe analysis (alpha value for Kruskal-Wallis (KW) test <0.05, and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) significant threshold >2). The graded color scale indicates LDA score (log 10). Comparison highlights taxa enriched in Veh mice (black tiles) and taxa enriched in E2 mice (red tiles). Solid blue line in both A) and B) indicates start of HFD.

To further characterize the temporal dynamics of the major microbial taxa for Veh and E2 treatment groups, we used horizon graphs. Horizon plots longitudinally visualize the deviations from the median relative abundance of each individual taxa within Veh and E2 groups. In both mice groups, taxa were differentially responsive to the diet change where some taxa increased and others decreased, as observed by the cool and warm shades, respectively (Figure 5B). However, taxa in Veh mice compared to E2 mice deviated from their respective median relative abundance more extremely as observed by the darker colors during HFD (Figure 5B). This suggests that the E2 treatment lessens the responsiveness of the taxa to the HFD. We used an Augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) test to characterize the dynamics of individual taxa and determine whether deviations from the median were random fluctuations or due to a diet change. Changes in relative abundance of 22 taxa during HFD in Veh and E2 mice were transient (p<0.05; Augmented Dickey-Fuller test; Figure 8). Twenty two out of 27 taxa continuously deviated from median relative abundance in Veh mice during HFD (p<0.05; Augmented Dickey-Fuller test; Figure 8B). Comparatively, only nine out of 27 taxa continuously shifted in relative abundance in E2 mice during HFD (p<0.05; Augmented Dickey-Fuller test; Figure 8B), suggesting that the fecal microbial community from E2 mice had not stabilized and continued to respond to the diet change throughout the HFD time course.



Figure 8 Dynamics of fecal bacteria in Veh and E2 mice during SD and HFD. Horizon graphs of the most common OTU abundances (>1% relative abundance) over time. Origin of each taxon, indicated by M on the x-axis, in the horizon plot is the median relative abundance of the given taxon. Darkening of the colors indicate the median absolute deviation, where cool, blue, colors indicate ranges where a taxon falls below its median abundance. Warm, red, colors indicate ranges where taxon's median abundance is exceeded (the graded color scale indicates standard deviations from the median (the chart height of each taxon is cut in half and overlaid). Horizon plots at (A) the phylum level and (B) the lowest identifiable taxon level.

Change in Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes abundance corresponds to weight gain

We characterized the abundance trends of highly abundant taxa and found that after the introduction to HFD, the relative abundance of predominant taxon in the *Bacteroidetes* phylum, *S24-7* family, decreased by 51% in Veh-mice and 33% in E2-mice (Figure 9A). The relative abundance of the *Allobaculum* genus, a dominant taxon in the *Firmicutes* phylum, increased by 25% in Veh-mice and 7.6% in E2-mice during HFD (Figure 9A). To explore the relationship of weight and relative abundances of *Allobaculum* and *S24-7* OTUs, we plotted relative abundances against weight (Figure 9B). Increase in relative abundance of *Allobaculum* spp. correlated with weight gain (R² was 0.9; p<0.001; Figure 9B) and it was the same for both E2 and Veh groups. In contrast, the decrease in relative abundance of *Bacteroidales S24-7* correlated with weight gain (R² was 0.7; p<0.001; Figure 9B), but the change in the relative abundances with the weight gain was different in E2 and Veh groups.



Figure 9. E2 treatment differentially alters the response of predominant taxa to the diet change. (A) Boxplots of relative abundance of two abundant taxa. (B) Correlation of relative abundance of the predominant taxa to weight. Error bars indicate standard error of the mean.

Estradiol protects against high-fat diet-induced endotoxins

Gram-negative bacteria contain lipopolysaccharide (LPS) as the major constituent in the outer leaflet of the outer cell membrane. These bacteria have variable regions of polysaccharide and oligosaccharide and a conserved lipid region. The lipid is the endotoxic and biologically active part of the LPS molecule responsible for septic shock. To determine if estradiol protected against endotoxins during HFD, we quantified the fecal lipopolysaccharide (LPS) levels for E2 and Veh mice during SD and HFD using the limulus amebocyte lysate (LAL) gel clot assay. We observed no differences in endotoxin levels between E2 and Veh mice fed SD (Figure 10). In HFD-fed mice, we found that fecal endotoxin concentrations were 10 times higher in Veh compared to E2 mice (p<0.05; Kruskal Wallis test; Figure 10). This HFD-induced increase in fecal endotoxin levels is consistent with an increase in gram-negative bacteria belonging to the phylum *Proteobacteria* in Veh-treated mice (Figure 6 and 10). Moreover, the reduced levels of LPS are also consistent with the reduced abundance of gram-negative bacteria in HFD-fed E2-treated mice (Figure 6 and 10).



Figure 10 E2 treatment protects against HFD driven increases in fecal LPS levels. LAL assay was used to measure the fecal endotoxin concentration (EU/mg) for randomly selected fecal pellets (n=3) for E2- and Veh-treated mice during SD and HFD.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we tested the hypothesis that estradiol affects the composition of the gut microbiota of female mice and that estradiol affects the dynamics of the gut microbiota to changes in diet. We observed that a change in diet from the standard rodent chow to high-fat diet resulted in changes in the abundance and composition of the gut microbiota in ovariectomized female mice. This diet change also induced a differential community response between Veh- and E2-treated mice. Additionally, HFD-fed mice were characterized by increased relative abundances of *Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria*, but these HFD-induced shifts were conservative for the E2-treated group. Members of these phyla include opportunistic pathogens and gramnegative bacteria which were higher in Veh mice than E2 mice during HFD. In contrast, microbes associated to plant-based diets were higher in HFD-fed E2-treated mice (Flint et al., 2012; Ze et al., 2012). The lack of E2-treatment significantly increased the fecal LPS levels for HFD-fed mice. In general, HFD intake disrupts the gut microbiota structure and function, but this alteration can be impeded by administration of E2 treatment. This suggests that E2 is a protective factor to high-fat diet in shaping the gut microbial ecology.

Environmental factors that modulate the gut microbiota

Diet is a primary factor in modulating the gut microbiota (Carmody et al., 2015; Hildebrandt et al., 2009). We observed that with an introduction to HFD Veh-treated mice, which exhibited an obese phenotype, had different gut microbiota structure than E2-treated mice, which had a lean phenotype (Figure 5C). High-caloric diets, such as HFD, have been shown to induce shifts in the gut bacterial diversity and composition and increase body fat (Cani et al., 2008a; Turnbaugh et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2012). Furthermore, although obesity can also influence the gut microbiota, HFD can alter the gut microbiota composition of obese individuals independent of the obesity and host genetics in general (Carmody et al., 2015; Hildebrandt et al., 2009; Ley et al., 2005; Murphy et al., 2010b). Specifically, *Bacteroidetes* decreases and *Firmicutes* increases were determined as HFD-induced shifts and independent of obesity phenotype and host genetics (Carmody et al., 2015; Hildebrandt et al., 2009; Ley et al., 2005; Murphy et al., 2010b). We observe these same shifts with diet change in Veh and E2 mice, however the shifts are attenuated in E2 mice (Figure 6A). In total this suggests that, despite a difference in phenotype between Veh- and E2-treated mice the changes observed with the introduction of HFD are primarily due to the HFD.

Food intake can also have an effect on the murine gut microbiota, specifically low-fat diet into a unique community state after 21 weeks of calorie restriction compared to *ad libitum* controls (Zhang et al., 2013). However, subtler differences were observed for shorter periods of calorie restriction in the gut microbiota between calorie-restricted and *ad libitum* controls (Mai et al., 2007). If E2-treatment induced an appreciable difference in reducing food intake during the 10 days of SD, then we would have observed an effect of food intake on the gut microbiota of E2-treated and Veh-treated mice during SD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). Though food intake was higher in Veh-treated than E2-treated mice by 22% during HFD, similar to other studies (Blaustein et al., 1976; Blaustein and Wade, 1976; Eckel, 2011), this difference would not be impactful on the gut microbiota of either treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In general, the gut microbiota for E2-treated mice during the treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In general, the gut microbiota of either treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In general, the gut microbiota of either treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In general, the gut microbiota of either treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In general, the gut microbiota of either treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In general, the gut microbiota of either treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In general, the gut microbiota of either treatment during HFD based on (Zhang et al., 2013). In sum, the attenuated HFD-induced changes in the gut microbiota for E2-treated mice cannot be explained by a decrease in food intake, but instead due to the E2-treatment.

We observed that the change in gut microbiota community composition in E2 mice attenuates the influence of HFD as compared to Veh-treated mice (Figure 5C). This affects the gut microbial diversity in that the gut microbiota of E2 mice separates from Veh mice during HFD (Figure 5C). Menon and colleagues (Menon et al., 2013) also examined the longitudinal changes in beta diversity and observed a difference in microbial communities with respect to estrogen receptor beta status. By the end of the study this difference was no longer significant (Menon et al., 2013). Although the host-mediated effects of estrogens were taken into account (i.e. estrogen receptor beta status), the effects of circulating estradiol on the gut microbiota were not considered nor controlled (Menon et al., 2013). In another study, the gut microbiota diversity has been shown to differ for OVX and sham operated female mice on a high-fat high-sugar diet, in that the gut microbiota of sham mice cluster separately and uniquely from OVX mice (Org et al., 2016). However, this effect is only observed in two of three strains of mice used in the study, including in C57BL6J mice that we used in our study (Org et al., 2016). This study reinforces our finding that a E2-treatment HFD-fed mice have a different gut microbial community than Veh HFD-fed mice. Our findings indicate that the microbial community adaption to diet change and HFD over time are relevant for understanding the effect of estradiol on the gut microbiota.

Estradiol modulation of taxonomic composition

The switch from SD to a HFD diet resulted in an increase in *Firmicutes* and decrease in *Bacteroidetes* abundances (Figure 6B), similarly as reported in other studies that investigated dietary effects on the murine gut microbiota (Murphy et al., 2010b; Turnbaugh et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2012). With the diet change, *Proteobacteria* increased by 18 times in Veh mice and by 7 times in E2 mice (Figure 6B). This phylum, associated with inflammation, is prevalent in

HFD-fed mice and European children consuming a Western diet (De Filippo et al., 2010; Everard et al., 2014; Shin et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2012). The increase in inflammation-inducing, gram-negative *Proteobacteria* has been defined as an indicator of instability in the microbial community (dysbiosis) induced by environmental factors such as diet change (Shin et al., 2015). With the diet change, *Proteobacteria* was 158% more abundant in Veh mice than E2 mice (Figure 6B). This suggests that the gut microbial community of Veh mice is more unstable than the community of E2 mice due to the change in diet.

HFD increases an abundance of bacteria associated with adverse health outcomes such as opportunistic pathogens (Zhang et al., 2012). We, too, have observed the increase of these opportunistic pathogens when mice were switched to the HFD, but this increase was more prevalent in mice that had no estradiol. The lack of estrogen resulted in greater abundances in *Lachnospiraceae* family, specifically taxa belonging to the genera *Coprococcus* and *Dorea* (Figure 6B), similar to the study by Org and colleagues (Org et al., 2016). High abundances of *Coprococcus* and *Dorea* have been linked to *Campylobacter* infections (Kampmann et al., 2016). We also observed that the abundances of *Lactococcus* and *Helicobacter* were higher in Vehtreated mice than in E2-treated mice during HFD (Figure 6B). These OTUs have been associated with inflammatory diseases such as taxa belonging to *Lactococcus spp.* (Akhaddar et al., 2002; Versalovic, 2011), *Helicobacter spp.* (Versalovic, 2011), and *Dorea* spp. (Rajilic-Stojanovic et al., 2011; Saulnier et al., 2011).

Our analysis of fecal lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a pathogen associated molecular marker, levels showed an HFD-induced increase in fecal endotoxin load in Veh-treated mice (Figure 10). This observation has been shown in other studies for plasma and fecal endotoxin levels (Kim et al., 2012). The gram-negative microorganisms capable of producing this endotoxin include

members of the proteobacterial *Helicobacter* genus (Eidhin and Mouton, 1993; Kim, 2010; Whittle et al., 2001), and were higher in abundance for Veh-treatment than E2-treatment in HFD-fed mice (Figure 6B). The introduction of HFD has been shown to increase the proportion of gram-negative bacteria and plasma LPS load in male mice (Cani et al., 2007) of which LPS has been linked to the mechanism of HFD-induced obesity pathogenesis (Cani et al., 2008a). In general, the increase of LPS levels in HFD-fed mice have been attributed to increases in gramnegative microbes (Cani et al., 2008a; Kim et al., 2012; Serino et al., 2012).

However, it is difficult to ascertain whether estradiol directly modulates gram-negative microbes and thereby attenuates LPS levels or indirectly interacts with the host to modulate the microbiota. The robustness of E2-treatment associated microbes to HFD-induced changes suggests a close interaction between the bacteria and the female sex hormone. Estradiol has been shown to reduce the *in vitro* growth of *Helicobacter* strains by inhibiting coccoid cell formation in a dose-dependent manner (Fteita et al., 2014; Hosoda et al., 2011) indicative of the potential of estradiol to directly modifying gram-negative bacterial growth and proliferation. However, further *in vivo* studies are needed to understand the molecular link between the E2 modulation of the gut bacteria and reduced endotoxins levels. Estradiol has also been shown to attenuate the LPS-activated TLR4 pro-inflammatory pathway (Murphy et al., 2010a). A disruption of the TLR4 pathway as in TLR4-deficient and HFD-fed mice reduces plasma and fecal endotoxin levels (Kim et al., 2012). Further work is needed, however, to understand the role of estradiol's downregulation of the inflammatory response to HFD in modulating of gut microbes.

Estrogen replacement therapy has been shown to reduce symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease in post-menopausal women (Kane and Reddy, 2008). In rodents, estradiol treatment can also improve the symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease (Harnish et al., 2004).

Females have a lower incidence of infections than males specifically due to the immunomodulatory effects of estrogens (Ruggieri et al., 2016). We hypothesize that estradiol's protective role against inflammatory and infectious diseases involves the modulation of the gut microbes. The abundance of Peptostreptococcaceae was higher in mice with no estradiol, a finding also observed by Org et al. (2016). Members of the *Peptostreptococcaceae* spp. are associated with compromised health in that high abundance is associated to patients with ulcerative colitis and colorectal cancer (Chen et al., 2012; Rajilic-Stojanovic et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2012). Clostridium difficile, a member of the Peptostreptococcaceae family, is the prime example of the family's association to bad health outcomes in that at high abundance this pathogen has deleterious effects (Ozaki et al., 2004; Rajilic-Stojanovic and de Vos, 2014). When examining the interaction between sex and age factors in a population analysis of C. difficile patients, older women had a higher risk for C. difficile infections than younger women (Esteban-Vasallo et al., 2016). One molecular explanation for this lower risk in younger women may be due in part to circulating estrogens modulating the microbiota through the host and/or directly, however further work is needed to elucidate the molecular mechanism.

In our work, we show that abundances of *Clostridiales* class was linked to estradiol independent of the diet (Figure 6B). In post-menopausal women, non-ovarian, urinary estrogen metabolite levels were directly correlated to *Clostridiales* abundance (Flores et al., 2012; Fuhrman et al., 2014). At the order level, *Ruminococcaceae* in the *Clostridiales* class was abundant to in HFD-fed mice administered E2 treatment (Figure 6B) and directly associated with urinary estrogens (Fuhrman et al., 2014). This is surprising in that though *Ruminococcaceae* order had high abundances in E2-treated mice during HFD, the members this order metabolize plant-based material such as complex carbohydrates (Flint et al., 2012; Ze et al., 2012).

Similarly, the *S24-7* family, highly abundant during SD in both E2 and Veh mic, remained abundant in E2 mice during HFD (Figure 6B). This family has been characterized with the potential to degrade oxalate, which is primarily found in plant-based diets (Ormerod et al., 2016). Although some microbes are flexible to variable dietary nutrients, which can explain the resistance of the community to change, the fact that *Ruminococcaceae* and *S24-7* were responsive to the diet change in Veh mice suggests that these taxa are not tolerant of change in nutrients.

One possible explanation as to how estradiol induces microbial tolerance to diet change may be through quorum sensing. Quorum sensing is a cell-cell communication mediated by several signaling molecules such as acyl-homoserine lactones (AHLs) that allows cells to sense cell density and orchestrate gene expression. These molecules are used in *Proteobacteria* (Schuster et al., 2013). Estrogens inhibit quorum sensing regulated gene expression and thereby reducing AHLs accumulation (Beury-Cirou et al., 2013). We speculate that estradiol affects quorum sensing in the gut microbes attenuating the microbial response to an environmental change such as diet. Further work is need to verify and elucidate the role of estradiol on the gut microbiota's communication network.

Potential biases and future directions

In the present study, we used culture-independent 16S rRNA gene sequencing technique to characterize the role of estradiol on the gut microbiota of female mice. All aspects of our study were controlled and were consistently applied across all samples which allows for comparisons across treatments and diet. The equal treatment of samples also allows for viable temporal analysis. However, it is important to note the potential biases associated with DNA extraction and PCR amplification. Specifically, DNA extraction and PCR amplification protocols increase

the likelihood of spurious or missed true correlations and in turn potential biases of the results (Brooks et al., 2015). The primers used for 16S rRNA gene amplification can over represent microbial taxa with multiple copies of 16S rRNA genes (Pei et al., 2010) or can preferentially anneal to 16S rRNA genes of some taxa and not others such as *Bifidobacterium*, an important gut microbiota member (Hayashi et al., 2004; Kuczynski et al., 2012). However, due to the studies already conducted that use similar study variables, our findings are validated despite some bias introduced by the 16S rRNA gene profiling.

Thus far we have purported, several host-dependent and host-independent mechanisms though which estradiol may be modulating the gut microbial diversity, response and composition to a diet change. For future studies, defining the role of the immune system in our mechanistic understanding of hormone, gut microbiota, and diet-induced obesity interplay would give us insight to the low incidence of inflammatory diseases in pre-menopause women. In addition, by focusing on estradiol's direct effect on the gut microbiota, it can increase our understanding of estradiol's role in shaping the microbial ecology independent of diet. Specifically, by focusing on quorum sensing, we will gain insight to the potential mechanism of how the gut microbial community and members resist the change in diet with E2 treatment. The focus on quorum sensing will also provide insight to anti effects on opportunistic pathogens such as *C. difficile* abundance. In total, E2-treatment likely reduces the ecological niche of certain phylogenetic groups such as opportunistic pathogens and endotoxin producing bacteria, while conserving the niche of microbes associated with a plant-based diet.

Conclusions

The results presented in this work characterize the role of estradiol on the gut microbiota structure and temporal dynamics during a diet change. We found that estradiol treatment limits

the HFD diet-induced effect on the gut microbiota structure. In addition, estradiol reduces the sensitivity of the gut microbial community response to a diet change. The gut microbes associated with bad health outcomes such as opportunistic pathogens and gram-negative bacteria were less prevalent with E2 treatment. Microorganisms, such as *Ruminococcaceae* and *S24-7*, associated with plant-based diet were resistant to HFD associated changes with E2 treatment. Lastly, we found E2-treatment protected against HFD-induced endotoxin increase. Our work, in total, describes estradiol as an additional factor that should be considered as a modulator of the gut microbiota to diet-induced changes. In addition, this work suggests to estradiol control of microbial ecology niches through speculative host-dependent and/or host-independent mechanisms. Understanding the mechanisms by which estradiol modulates the microbiota are relevant for understanding women's health before and after the onset of menopause. The future steps should focus on disentangling host-dependent from host-independent effects of estradiol on the gut microbiota using enrichment cultures of gut microbiota amended with different concentrations of estradiol.



Supplementary Figure 1. Mean Kcal intake of E2 (red) and Veh (black) treatment group during HFD (days 11 to 25). Mice were measured for intake every 2 days during HFD (days 11-35).

REFERENCES

- Adlercreutz, H., Pulkkinen, M.O., Hamalainen, E.K., and Korpela, J.T. (1984). Studies on the role of intestinal bacteria in metabolism of synthetic and natural steroid hormones. J Steroid Biochem *20*, 217-229.
- Akhaddar, A., El Mostarchid, B., Gazzaz, M., and Boucetta, M. (2002). Cerebellar abscess due to Lactococcus lactis. A new pathogen. Acta Neurochir (Wien) *144*, 305-306.
- Al-Safi, Z.A., and Polotsky, A.J. (2015). Obesity and menopause. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 29, 548-553.
- Backhed, F., Ding, H., Wang, T., Hooper, L.V., Koh, G.Y., Nagy, A., Semenkovich, C.F., and Gordon, J.I. (2004). The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 15718-15723.
- Beury-Cirou, A., Tannieres, M., Minard, C., Soulere, L., Rasamiravaka, T., Dodd, R.H., Queneau, Y., Dessaux, Y., Guillou, C., Vandeputte, O.M., *et al.* (2013). At a supraphysiological concentration, human sexual hormones act as quorum-sensing inhibitors. PLoS One 8, e83564.
- Bhardwaj, P., Du, B., Zhou, X.K., Sue, E., Giri, D., Harbus, M.D., Falcone, D.J., Hudis, C.A., Subbaramaiah, K., and Dannenberg, A.J. (2015). Estrogen Protects against Obesity-Induced Mammary Gland Inflammation in Mice. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 8, 751-759.
- Blasco-Baque, V., Serino, M., Vergnes, J.N., Riant, E., Loubieres, P., Arnal, J.F., Gourdy, P., Sixou, M., Burcelin, R., and Kemoun, P. (2012). High-fat diet induces periodontitis in mice through lipopolysaccharides (LPS) receptor signaling: protective action of estrogens. PLoS One 7, e48220.
- Blaustein, J.D., Gentry, R.T., Roy, E.J., and Wade, G.N. (1976). Effects of ovariectomy and estradiol on body weight and food intake in gold thioglucose-treated mice. Physiol Behav *17*, 1027-1030.
- Blaustein, J.D., and Wade, G.N. (1976). Ovarian influences on the meal patterns of female rats. Physiology & behavior 17, 201-208.
- Bless, E.P., Reddy, T., Acharya, K.D., Beltz, B.S., and Tetel, M.J. (2014). Oestradiol and diet modulate energy homeostasis and hypothalamic neurogenesis in the adult female mouse. J Neuroendocrinol 26, 805-816.
- Bokulich, N.A., Subramanian, S., Faith, J.J., Gevers, D., Gordon, J.I., Knight, R., Mills, D.A., and Caporaso, J.G. (2013). Quality-filtering vastly improves diversity estimates from Illumina amplicon sequencing. Nat Methods *10*, 57-59.
- Boulange, C.L., Neves, A.L., Chilloux, J., Nicholson, J.K., and Dumas, M.E. (2016). Impact of the gut microbiota on inflammation, obesity, and metabolic disease. Genome Med *8*, 42.
- Brinton, R.D. (2012). Minireview: Translational Animal Models of Human Menopause: Challenges and Emerging Opportunities. Endocrinology *153*, 3571-3578.
- Brooks, J.P., Edwards, D.J., Harwich, M.D., Jr., Rivera, M.C., Fettweis, J.M., Serrano, M.G., Reris, R.A., Sheth, N.U., Huang, B., Girerd, P., et al. (2015). The truth about

metagenomics: quantifying and counteracting bias in 16S rRNA studies. BMC Microbiol *15*, 66.

- Bryzgalova, G., Lundholm, L., Portwood, N., Gustafsson, J.A., Khan, A., Efendic, S., and Dahlman-Wright, K. (2008). Mechanisms of antidiabetogenic and body weight-lowering effects of estrogen in high-fat diet-fed mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 295, E904-912.
- Camporez, J.P.G., Jornayvaz, F.R., Lee, H.Y., Kanda, S., Guigni, B.A., Kahn, M., Samuel, V.T., Carvalho, C.R.O., Petersen, K.F., Jurczak, M.J., *et al.* (2013). Cellular Mechanism by Which Estradiol Protects Female Ovariectomized Mice From High-Fat Diet-Induced Hepatic and Muscle Insulin Resistance. Endocrinology *154*, 1021-1028.
- Cani, P.D., Amar, J., Iglesias, M.A., Poggi, M., Knauf, C., Bastelica, D., Neyrinck, A.M., Fava, F., Tuohy, K.M., Chabo, C., *et al.* (2007). Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. Diabetes 56, 1761-1772.
- Cani, P.D., Bibiloni, R., Knauf, C., Waget, A., Neyrinck, A.M., Delzenne, N.M., and Burcelin, R. (2008a). Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. Diabetes 57, 1470-1481.
- Cani, P.D., Delzenne, N.M., Amar, J., and Burcelin, R. (2008b). Role of gut microflora in the development of obesity and insulin resistance following high-fat diet feeding. Pathologiebiologie 56, 305-309.
- Caporaso, J.G., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F.D., DeSantis, T.Z., Andersen, G.L., and Knight, R. (2010a). PyNAST: a flexible tool for aligning sequences to a template alignment. Bioinformatics *26*, 266-267.
- Caporaso, J.G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F.D., Costello, E.K., Fierer, N., Pena, A.G., Goodrich, J.K., Gordon, J.I., *et al.* (2010b). QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods 7, 335-336.
- Caporaso, J.G., Lauber, C.L., Walters, W.A., Berg-Lyons, D., Huntley, J., Fierer, N., Owens, S.M., Betley, J., Fraser, L., Bauer, M., *et al.* (2012). Ultra-high-throughput microbial community analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq platforms. Isme J *6*, 1621-1624.
- Caporaso, J.G., Lauber, C.L., Walters, W.A., Berg-Lyons, D., Lozupone, C.A., Turnbaugh, P.J., Fierer, N., and Knight, R. (2011). Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108 Suppl 1*, 4516-4522.
- Carmody, R.N., Gerber, G.K., Luevano, J.M., Jr., Gatti, D.M., Somes, L., Svenson, K.L., and Turnbaugh, P.J. (2015). Diet dominates host genotype in shaping the murine gut microbiota. Cell Host Microbe 17, 72-84.
- Carr, M.C. (2003). The emergence of the metabolic syndrome with menopause. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *88*, 2404-2411.
- Chao, A. (1984). Nonparametric-Estimation of the Number of Classes in a Population. Scand J Stat *11*, 265-270.
- Chen, W., Liu, F., Ling, Z., Tong, X., and Xiang, C. (2012). Human intestinal lumen and mucosa-associated microbiota in patients with colorectal cancer. PLoS One 7, e39743.

- Clarke, G., Stilling, R.M., Kennedy, P.J., Stanton, C., Cryan, J.F., and Dinan, T.G. (2014). Minireview: Gut microbiota: the neglected endocrine organ. Mol Endocrinol 28, 1221-1238.
- Clarridge, J.E., 3rd (2004). Impact of 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis for identification of bacteria on clinical microbiology and infectious diseases. Clin Microbiol Rev *17*, 840-862, table of contents.
- Clegg, D.J. (2012). Minireview: the year in review of estrogen regulation of metabolism. Mol Endocrinol 26, 1957-1960.
- Cox-York, K.A., Sheflin, A.M., Foster, M.T., Gentile, C.L., Kahl, A., Koch, L.G., Britton, S.L., and Weir, T.L. (2015). Ovariectomy results in differential shifts in gut microbiota in low versus high aerobic capacity rats. Physiological reports 3.
- Daniel, H., Gholami, A.M., Berry, D., Desmarchelier, C., Hahne, H., Loh, G., Mondot, S., Lepage, P., Rothballer, M., Walker, A., *et al.* (2014). High-fat diet alters gut microbiota physiology in mice. ISME J 8, 295-308.
- David, L.A., Maurice, C.F., Carmody, R.N., Gootenberg, D.B., Button, J.E., Wolfe, B.E., Ling, A.V., Devlin, A.S., Varma, Y., Fischbach, M.A., *et al.* (2014). Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature 505, 559-563.
- Davis, S.R., Castelo-Branco, C., Chedraui, P., Lumsden, M.A., Nappi, R.E., Shah, D., Villaseca, P., and Writing Group of the International Menopause Society for World Menopause, D. (2012). Understanding weight gain at menopause. Climacteric 15, 419-429.
- Davis, S.R., Lambrinoudaki, I., Lumsden, M., Mishra, G.D., Pal, L., Rees, M., Santoro, N., and Simoncini, T. (2015). Menopause. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1, 15004.
- De Filippo, C., Cavalieri, D., Di Paola, M., Ramazzotti, M., Poullet, J.B., Massart, S., Collini, S., Pieraccini, G., and Lionetti, P. (2010). Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 14691-14696.
- Devkota, S., Wang, Y., Musch, M.W., Leone, V., Fehlner-Peach, H., Nadimpalli, A., Antonopoulos, D.A., Jabri, B., and Chang, E.B. (2012). Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in Il10-/- mice. Nature 487, 104-108.
- Eckel, L.A. (2011). The ovarian hormone estradiol plays a crucial role in the control of food intake in females. Physiol Behav *104*, 517-524.
- Edgar, R.C., Haas, B.J., Clemente, J.C., Quince, C., and Knight, R. (2011). UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics *27*, 2194-2200.
- Eidhin, D.N., and Mouton, C. (1993). A rapid method for preparation of rough and smooth lipopolysaccharide from Bacteroides, Porphyromonas and Prevotella. FEMS Microbiol Lett *110*, 133-138.
- Esteban-Vasallo, M.D., Naval Pellicer, S., Dominguez-Berjon, M.F., Cantero Caballero, M., Asensio, A., Saravia, G., and Astray-Mochales, J. (2016). Age and gender differences in Clostridium difficile-related hospitalization trends in Madrid (Spain) over a 12-year period. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis *35*, 1037-1044.

- Everard, A., Lazarevic, V., Gaia, N., Johansson, M., Stahlman, M., Backhed, F., Delzenne, N.M., Schrenzel, J., Francois, P., and Cani, P.D. (2014). Microbiome of prebiotic-treated mice reveals novel targets involved in host response during obesity. ISME J 8, 2116-2130.
- Fava, F., Gitau, R., Griffin, B.A., Gibson, G.R., Tuohy, K.M., and Lovegrove, J.A. (2013). The type and quantity of dietary fat and carbohydrate alter faecal microbiome and short-chain fatty acid excretion in a metabolic syndrome 'at-risk' population. Int J Obes (Lond) 37, 216-223.
- Flint, H.J., Scott, K.P., Duncan, S.H., Louis, P., and Forano, E. (2012). Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. Gut Microbes *3*, 289-306.
- Flores, R., Shi, J., Fuhrman, B., Xu, X., Veenstra, T.D., Gail, M.H., Gajer, P., Ravel, J., and Goedert, J.J. (2012). Fecal microbial determinants of fecal and systemic estrogens and estrogen metabolites: a cross-sectional study. J Transl Med 10, 253.
- Fteita, D., Kononen, E., Soderling, E., and Gursoy, U.K. (2014). Effect of estradiol on planktonic growth, coaggregation, and biofilm formation of the Prevotella intermedia group bacteria. Anaerobe 27, 7-13.
- Fuhrman, B.J., Feigelson, H.S., Flores, R., Gail, M.H., Xu, X., Ravel, J., and Goedert, J.J. (2014). Associations of the fecal microbiome with urinary estrogens and estrogen metabolites in postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 99, 4632-4640.
- Goedert, J.J., Jones, G., Hua, X., Xu, X., Yu, G., Flores, R., Falk, R.T., Gail, M.H., Shi, J., Ravel, J., *et al.* (2015). Investigation of the association between the fecal microbiota and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: a population-based case-control pilot study. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 107.
- Goodrich, J.K., Di Rienzi, S.C., Poole, A.C., Koren, O., Walters, W.A., Caporaso, J.G., Knight, R., and Ley, R.E. (2014). Conducting a microbiome study. Cell *158*, 250-262.
- Harnish, D.C., Albert, L.M., Leathurby, Y., Eckert, A.M., Ciarletta, A., Kasaian, M., and Keith, J.C., Jr. (2004). Beneficial effects of estrogen treatment in the HLA-B27 transgenic rat model of inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 286, G118-125.
- Hayashi, H., Sakamoto, M., and Benno, Y. (2004). Evaluation of three different forward primers by terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis for determination of fecal Bifidobacterium spp. in healthy subjects. Microbiol Immunol *48*, 1-6.
- Hildebrandt, M.A., Hoffmann, C., Sherrill-Mix, S.A., Keilbaugh, S.A., Hamady, M., Chen, Y.Y., Knight, R., Ahima, R.S., Bushman, F., and Wu, G.D. (2009). High-Fat Diet Determines the Composition of the Murine Gut Microbiome Independently of Obesity. Gastroenterology 137, 1716-1724.
- Hosoda, K., Shimomura, H., Hayashi, S., Yokota, K., and Hirai, Y. (2011). Steroid hormones as bactericidal agents to Helicobacter pylori. Fems Microbiology Letters *318*, 68-75.
- Huse, S.M., Dethlefsen, L., Huber, J.A., Mark Welch, D., Relman, D.A., and Sogin, M.L. (2008). Exploring microbial diversity and taxonomy using SSU rRNA hypervariable tag sequencing. PLoS Genet 4, e1000255.
- Ingberg, E., Theodorsson, A., Theodorsson, E., and Strom, J.O. (2012). Methods for long-term 17beta-estradiol administration to mice. Gen Comp Endocrinol *175*, 188-193.

- Jouyandeh, Z., Nayebzadeh, F., Qorbani, M., and Asadi, M. (2013). Metabolic syndrome and menopause. J Diabetes Metab Disord 12, 1.
- Kampmann, C., Dicksved, J., Engstrand, L., and Rautelin, H. (2016). Composition of human faecal microbiota in resistance to Campylobacter infection. Clin Microbiol Infect *22*, 61 e61-68.
- Kane, S.V., and Reddy, D. (2008). Hormonal replacement therapy after menopause is protective of disease activity in women with inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol *103*, 1193-1196.
- Kim, K.A., Gu, W., Lee, I.A., Joh, E.H., and Kim, D.H. (2012). High fat diet-induced gut microbiota exacerbates inflammation and obesity in mice via the TLR4 signaling pathway. PLoS One *7*, e47713.
- Kim, S.J. (2010). Leptin potentiates Prevotella intermedia lipopolysaccharide-induced production of TNF-alpha in monocyte-derived macrophages. J Periodontal Implant Sci *40*, 119-124.
- Konstantinidis, K.T., and Tiedje, J.M. (2005). Genomic insights that advance the species definition for prokaryotes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 2567-2572.
- Koren, O., Goodrich, J.K., Cullender, T.C., Spor, A., Laitinen, K., Backhed, H.K., Gonzalez, A., Werner, J.J., Angenent, L.T., Knight, R., *et al.* (2012). Host remodeling of the gut microbiome and metabolic changes during pregnancy. Cell 150, 470-480.
- Kornman, K.S., and Loesche, W.J. (1982). Effects of estradiol and progesterone on Bacteroides melaninogenicus and Bacteroides gingivalis. Infect Immun *35*, 256-263.
- Kuczynski, J., Lauber, C.L., Walters, W.A., Parfrey, L.W., Clemente, J.C., Gevers, D., and Knight, R. (2012). Experimental and analytical tools for studying the human microbiome. Nat Rev Genet 13, 47-58.
- Kudwa, A.E., Harada, N., Honda, S.I., and Rissman, E.F. (2009). Regulation of progestin receptors in medial amygdala: estradiol, phytoestrogens and sex. Physiol Behav 97, 146-150.
- Lam, Y.Y., Ha, C.W., Campbell, C.R., Mitchell, A.J., Dinudom, A., Oscarsson, J., Cook, D.I., Hunt, N.H., Caterson, I.D., Holmes, A.J., *et al.* (2012). Increased gut permeability and microbiota change associate with mesenteric fat inflammation and metabolic dysfunction in diet-induced obese mice. PLoS One 7, e34233.
- Larsen, N., Vogensen, F.K., van den Berg, F.W., Nielsen, D.S., Andreasen, A.S., Pedersen, B.K., Al-Soud, W.A., Sorensen, S.J., Hansen, L.H., and Jakobsen, M. (2010). Gut microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from non-diabetic adults. PLoS One 5, e9085.
- Larsson, E., Tremaroli, V., Lee, Y.S., Koren, O., Nookaew, I., Fricker, A., Nielsen, J., Ley, R.E., and Backhed, F. (2012). Analysis of gut microbial regulation of host gene expression along the length of the gut and regulation of gut microbial ecology through MyD88. Gut *61*, 1124-1131.
- Ley, R.E. (2010). Obesity and the human microbiome. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 26, 5-11.
- Ley, R.E., Backhed, F., Turnbaugh, P., Lozupone, C.A., Knight, R.D., and Gordon, J.I. (2005). Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 11070-11075.

- Liou, A.P., Paziuk, M., Luevano, J.M., Jr., Machineni, S., Turnbaugh, P.J., and Kaplan, L.M. (2013). Conserved shifts in the gut microbiota due to gastric bypass reduce host weight and adiposity. Sci Transl Med 5, 178ra141.
- Lopez, M., and Tena-Sempere, M. (2015). Estrogens and the control of energy homeostasis: a brain perspective. Trends Endocrinol Metab *26*, 411-421.
- Lovejoy, J.C., Champagne, C.M., de Jonge, L., Xie, H., and Smith, S.R. (2008). Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int J Obes (Lond) *32*, 949-958.
- Lozupone, C., and Knight, R. (2005a). UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Appl Environ Microb 71, 8228-8235.
- Lozupone, C., and Knight, R. (2005b). UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Applied and environmental microbiology *71*, 8228-8235.
- Lozupone, C., Lladser, M.E., Knights, D., Stombaugh, J., and Knight, R. (2011). UniFrac: an effective distance metric for microbial community comparison. Isme J *5*, 169-172.
- Lozupone, C.A., Hamady, M., Kelley, S.T., and Knight, R. (2007). Quantitative and qualitative beta diversity measures lead to different insights into factors that structure microbial communities. Appl Environ Microbiol 73, 1576-1585.
- Magoc, T., and Salzberg, S.L. (2011). FLASH: fast length adjustment of short reads to improve genome assemblies. Bioinformatics *27*, 2957-2963.
- Mai, V., Colbert, L.H., Perkins, S.N., Schatzkin, A., and Hursting, S.D. (2007). Intestinal microbiota: a potential diet-responsive prevention target in ApcMin mice. Mol Carcinog *46*, 42-48.
- Marchesi, J.R., Adams, D.H., Fava, F., Hermes, G.D., Hirschfield, G.M., Hold, G., Quraishi, M.N., Kinross, J., Smidt, H., Tuohy, K.M., *et al.* (2016). The gut microbiota and host health: a new clinical frontier. Gut 65, 330-339.
- Mauvais-Jarvis, F., Clegg, D.J., and Hevener, A.L. (2013). The role of estrogens in control of energy balance and glucose homeostasis. Endocr Rev *34*, 309-338.
- Menon, R., Watson, S.E., Thomas, L.N., Allred, C.D., Dabney, A., Azcarate-Peril, M.A., and Sturino, J.M. (2013). Diet complexity and estrogen receptor beta status affect the composition of the murine intestinal microbiota. Appl Environ Microbiol 79, 5763-5773.
- Miquel, S., Martin, R., Rossi, O., Bermudez-Humaran, L.G., Chatel, J.M., Sokol, H., Thomas, M., Wells, J.M., and Langella, P. (2013). Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and human intestinal health. Curr Opin Microbiol 16, 255-261.
- Moreno-Indias, I., Sanchez-Alcoholado, L., Sanchez-Garrido, M.A., Martin-Nunez, G.M., Perez-Jimenez, F., Tena-Sempere, M., Tinahones, F.J., and Queipo-Ortuno, M.I. (2016). Neonatal androgen exposure causes persistent gut microbiota dysbiosis related to metabolic disease in adult female rats. Endocrinology, en20161317.
- Murphy, A.J., Guyre, P.M., and Pioli, P.A. (2010a). Estradiol suppresses NF-kappa B activation through coordinated regulation of let-7a and miR-125b in primary human macrophages. J Immunol 184, 5029-5037.

- Murphy, E.F., Cotter, P.D., Healy, S., Marques, T.M., O'Sullivan, O., Fouhy, F., Clarke, S.F., O'Toole, P.W., Quigley, E.M., Stanton, C., *et al.* (2010b). Composition and energy harvesting capacity of the gut microbiota: relationship to diet, obesity and time in mouse models. Gut 59, 1635-1642.
- Org, E., Mehrabian, M., Parks, B.W., Shipkova, P., Liu, X., Drake, T.A., and Lusis, A.J. (2016). Sex differences and hormonal effects on gut microbiota composition in mice. Gut Microbes 7, 313-322.
- Ormerod, K.L., Wood, D.L.A., Lachner, N., Gellatly, S.L., Daly, J.N., Parsons, J.D., Dal'Molin, C.G.O., Palfreyman, R.W., Nielsen, L.K., Cooper, M.A., *et al.* (2016). Genomic characterization of the uncultured Bacteroidales family S24-7 inhabiting the guts of homeothermic animals. Microbiome *4*.
- Ozaki, E., Kato, H., Kita, H., Karasawa, T., Maegawa, T., Koino, Y., Matsumoto, K., Takada, T., Nomoto, K., Tanaka, R., *et al.* (2004). Clostridium difficile colonization in healthy adults: transient colonization and correlation with enterococcal colonization. J Med Microbiol *53*, 167-172.
- Pace, N.R. (1997). A molecular view of microbial diversity and the biosphere. Science 276, 734-740.
- Pei, A.Y., Oberdorf, W.E., Nossa, C.W., Agarwal, A., Chokshi, P., Gerz, E.A., Jin, Z.D., Lee, P., Yang, L.Y., Poles, M., *et al.* (2010). Diversity of 16S rRNA Genes within Individual Prokaryotic Genomes. Appl Environ Microb 76, 3886-3897.
- Pettersson, U.S., Walden, T.B., Carlsson, P.O., Jansson, L., and Phillipson, M. (2012). Female mice are protected against high-fat diet induced metabolic syndrome and increase the regulatory T cell population in adipose tissue. PLoS One *7*, e46057.
- Pfeilschifter, J., Koditz, R., Pfohl, M., and Schatz, H. (2002). Changes in proinflammatory cytokine activity after menopause. Endocr Rev 23, 90-119.
- Plottel, C.S., and Blaser, M.J. (2011). Microbiome and malignancy. Cell Host Microbe 10, 324-335.
- Price, M.N., Dehal, P.S., and Arkin, A.P. (2010). FastTree 2--approximately maximumlikelihood trees for large alignments. PloS one 5, e9490.
- Rajilic-Stojanovic, M., Biagi, E., Heilig, H.G., Kajander, K., Kekkonen, R.A., Tims, S., and de Vos, W.M. (2011). Global and deep molecular analysis of microbiota signatures in fecal samples from patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology 141, 1792-1801.
- Rajilic-Stojanovic, M., and de Vos, W.M. (2014). The first 1000 cultured species of the human gastrointestinal microbiota. FEMS Microbiol Rev *38*, 996-1047.
- Rajilic-Stojanovic, M., Heilig, H.G., Tims, S., Zoetendal, E.G., and de Vos, W.M. (2012). Long-term monitoring of the human intestinal microbiota composition. Environ Microbiol.
- Rajilic-Stojanovic, M., Shanahan, F., Guarner, F., and de Vos, W.M. (2013). Phylogenetic analysis of dysbiosis in ulcerative colitis during remission. Inflamm Bowel Dis 19, 481-488.

- Riant, E., Waget, A., Cogo, H., Arnal, J.F., Burcelin, R., and Gourdy, P. (2009). Estrogens protect against high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance and glucose intolerance in mice. Endocrinology 150, 2109-2117.
- Ridaura, V.K., Faith, J.J., Rey, F.E., Cheng, J., Duncan, A.E., Kau, A.L., Griffin, N.W., Lombard, V., Henrissat, B., Bain, J.R., *et al.* (2013). Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. Science 341, 1241214.
- Rissman, E.F., Heck, A.L., Leonard, J.E., Shupnik, M.A., and Gustafsson, J.A. (2002). Disruption of estrogen receptor beta gene impairs spatial learning in female mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 3996-4001.
- Rogers, N.H., Perfield, J.W., 2nd, Strissel, K.J., Obin, M.S., and Greenberg, A.S. (2009). Reduced energy expenditure and increased inflammation are early events in the development of ovariectomy-induced obesity. Endocrinology 150, 2161-2168.
- Rose, K.P., Farenhorst, A., Claeys, A., and Ascef, B. (2014). 17 beta-estradiol and 17 alphaethinylestradiol mineralization in sewage sludge and biosolids. J Environ Sci Health B *49*, 871-879.
- Rosenbaum, M., Knight, R., and Leibel, R.L. (2015). The gut microbiota in human energy homeostasis and obesity. Trends Endocrinol Metab 26, 493-501.
- Ruggieri, A., Anticoli, S., D'Ambrosio, A., Giordani, L., and Viora, M. (2016). The influence of sex and gender on immunity, infection and vaccination. Ann Ist Super Sanita *52*, 198-204.
- Saad, M.J., Santos, A., and Prada, P.O. (2016). Linking Gut Microbiota and Inflammation to Obesity and Insulin Resistance. Physiology (Bethesda) *31*, 283-293.
- Said, S.E., and Dickey, D.A. (1984). Testing for unit roots in autoregressive-moving average models of unknown order. Biometrika *71*, 599-607.
- Saulnier, D.M., Riehle, K., Mistretta, T.A., Diaz, M.A., Mandal, D., Raza, S., Weidler, E.M., Qin, X., Coarfa, C., Milosavljevic, A., *et al.* (2011). Gastrointestinal microbiome signatures of pediatric patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology 141, 1782-1791.
- Schuster, M., Sexton, D.J., Diggle, S.P., and Greenberg, E.P. (2013). Acyl-homoserine lactone quorum sensing: from evolution to application. Annu Rev Microbiol *67*, 43-63.
- Serino, M., Luche, E., Gres, S., Baylac, A., Berge, M., Cenac, C., Waget, A., Klopp, P., Iacovoni, J., Klopp, C., *et al.* (2012). Metabolic adaptation to a high-fat diet is associated with a change in the gut microbiota. Gut *61*, 543-553.
- Shade, A., Jones, S.E., Caporaso, J.G., Handelsman, J., Knight, R., Fierer, N., and Gilbert, J.A. (2014). Conditionally rare taxa disproportionately contribute to temporal changes in microbial diversity. MBio 5, e01371-01314.
- Shannon, C.E., and Weaver, W. (1949). The mathematical theory of communication (Urbana,: University of Illinois Press).
- Shapiro, S. (2001). Addressing postmenopausal estrogen deficiency: a position paper of the American Council on Science and Health. MedGenMed, E7.
- Shin, N.R., Whon, T.W., and Bae, J.W. (2015). Proteobacteria: microbial signature of dysbiosis in gut microbiota. Trends Biotechnol *33*, 496-503.

- Simpson, E.R., and Brown, K.A. (2013). Minireview: Obesity and breast cancer: a tale of inflammation and dysregulated metabolism. Mol Endocrinol 27, 715-725.
- Sites, C.K., Toth, M.J., Cushman, M., L'Hommedieu, G.D., Tchernof, A., Tracy, R.P., and Poehlman, E.T. (2002). Menopause-related differences in inflammation markers and their relationship to body fat distribution and insulin-stimulated glucose disposal. Fertil Steril 77, 128-135.
- Soergel, D.A., Dey, N., Knight, R., and Brenner, S.E. (2012). Selection of primers for optimal taxonomic classification of environmental 16S rRNA gene sequences. ISME J *6*, 1440-1444.
- Stubbins, R.E., Holcomb, V.B., Hong, J., and Nunez, N.P. (2012). Estrogen modulates abdominal adiposity and protects female mice from obesity and impaired glucose tolerance. Eur J Nutr 51, 861-870.
- Turnbaugh, P.J., Backhed, F., Fulton, L., and Gordon, J.I. (2008). Diet-induced obesity is linked to marked but reversible alterations in the mouse distal gut microbiome. Cell Host Microbe *3*, 213-223.
- Turnbaugh, P.J., Ley, R.E., Mahowald, M.A., Magrini, V., Mardis, E.R., and Gordon, J.I. (2006). An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. Nature 444, 1027-1031.
- Turnbaugh, P.J., Ridaura, V.K., Faith, J.J., Rey, F.E., Knight, R., and Gordon, J.I. (2009). The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice. Sci Transl Med *1*, 6ra14.
- Versalovic, J. (2011). Manual of clinical microbiology, 10th edn (Washington, DC: ASM Press).
- Walker, A.W., Ince, J., Duncan, S.H., Webster, L.M., Holtrop, G., Ze, X., Brown, D., Stares, M.D., Scott, P., Bergerat, A., *et al.* (2011). Dominant and diet-responsive groups of bacteria within the human colonic microbiota. ISME J 5, 220-230.
- Wang, J., Tang, H., Zhang, C., Zhao, Y., Derrien, M., Rocher, E., van-Hylckama Vlieg, J.E., Strissel, K., Zhao, L., Obin, M., *et al.* (2015). Modulation of gut microbiota during probiotic-mediated attenuation of metabolic syndrome in high fat diet-fed mice. ISME J 9, 1-15.
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G.M., Tiedje, J.M., and Cole, J.R. (2007). Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Applied and environmental microbiology *73*, 5261-5267.
- Wang, T., Cai, G., Qiu, Y., Fei, N., Zhang, M., Pang, X., Jia, W., Cai, S., and Zhao, L. (2012). Structural segregation of gut microbiota between colorectal cancer patients and healthy volunteers. ISME J 6, 320-329.
- Ward, D.M., Weller, R., and Bateson, M.M. (1990). 16S rRNA sequences reveal numerous uncultured microorganisms in a natural community. Nature *345*, 63-65.
- Whittle, B.J., Morschl, E., Pozsar, J., Moran, A.P., and Laszlo, F. (2001). Helicobacter pylori lipopolysaccharide provokes iNOS-mediated acute systemic microvascular inflammatory responses in rat cardiac, hepatic, renal and pulmonary tissues. J Physiol Paris *95*, 257-259.

- Yang, B., Wang, Y., and Qian, P.Y. (2016). Sensitivity and correlation of hypervariable regions in 16S rRNA genes in phylogenetic analysis. BMC Bioinformatics 17, 135.
- Yarza, P., Yilmaz, P., Pruesse, E., Glockner, F.O., Ludwig, W., Schleifer, K.H., Whitman, W.B., Euzeby, J., Amann, R., and Rossello-Mora, R. (2014). Uniting the classification of cultured and uncultured bacteria and archaea using 16S rRNA gene sequences. Nat Rev Microbiol 12, 635-645.
- Ze, X., Duncan, S.H., Louis, P., and Flint, H.J. (2012). Ruminococcus bromii is a keystone species for the degradation of resistant starch in the human colon. ISME J *6*, 1535-1543.
- Zhang, C., Li, S., Yang, L., Huang, P., Li, W., Wang, S., Zhao, G., Zhang, M., Pang, X., Yan, Z., et al. (2013). Structural modulation of gut microbiota in life-long calorie-restricted mice. Nat Commun 4, 2163.
- Zhang, C., Zhang, M., Pang, X., Zhao, Y., Wang, L., and Zhao, L. (2012). Structural resilience of the gut microbiota in adult mice under high-fat dietary perturbations. ISME J *6*, 1848-1857.